

Humanitarian Diplomacy: A Challenge to Humanitarian Actors in Conflict Areas

Safae Sekkat

Supervisor: Ane Bislev

Development and International Relations

Master thesis

January 2020

Table of Contents

Abstract:	3
List of Acronyms :	4
Introduction:	5
Problem Formulation:	6
Methodology:	7
outline:	7
Sources:	8
Limitations:	8
The International Committee of the Red Cross Humanitarian Diplomacy model:	9
Theoritical Freamework:	12
Constructivism in International Relations Theory:	12
Human Needs Theory (HNT):	15
Case Studies: Somalia's humanitarian crisis and facing Harakat Al-Shabaab Al-Mujahid	18
Context:	18
WFP experience in Somalia:	19
MSF experience in Somalia:	21
Analysis:	25
Discussion:	28
Conclusion:	32
Bibliography and References:	34

Abstract:

This thesis is an analysis of non-governmental organizations and international nongovernmental organizations more specifically their humanitarian diplomacy. Humanitarian diplomacy is a new field of the non-governmental sector. It is a tool applied by humanitarian actors when operating in emergencies to assist people medically, socially, and economically. In this paper the emergencies will be specified in operating in conflict areas. Any kind of humanitarian assistance provided by a party other than the government is put under control and restrictions by the military entity or any kind of political representation of the area. Humanitarian diplomacy is a tool that enables humanitarian assistance entities to get access in a conflict area and provide the assistance needed, all acting fast under the pressure of time. This paper aims at discussing humanitarian diplomacy by non-state actors, namely NGOs and INGOs, using an IR theory: Constructivism and Human Needs Theory as a practical theory. The discussing is limited to analyzing humanitarian diplomacy practiced by the World Food Program and Médecins Sans Frontieres in Somalia. Since humanitarian diplomacy is a new field, it is difficult to have rules to follow, although The International Committee of the Red Cross has put its model public as an example since the influence of the Committee is great on the humanitarian field.

List of Acronyms:

AMISOM: African Union Mission to Somalia

HNT: Human Needs Theory

HPG: Humanitarian Policy Group

ICRC: International Committee of the Red Cross

ICU: the Islamic Courts Union

INGO: international non-governmental organization

IR: International Relations

MSF: Médecins sans Frontières

TFG: Transitional Federal Government

TNG: The Transnational National Government

UN: United Nations

WFP: The World Food Program

Introduction:

Conflicts in the last two decades has known a change in their nature on many levels. Direct violence is still a present criterion, but the duration of warfare and how it is dealt with has changed since the 20th century. The end of the Cold War was the end of an era and the beginning of another. The World has been labelled as the Orient and the West. The West as its name indicates is the Western part of the world that is dominating in terms of power, economy, and technology; and the orient is the rest of the world that has been dominated and put into a category of being inferior forgetting all the historical and cultural treasure that it holds. The orient is also an appellation for the 3rd world nations that has been struggling with power and most of them had been colonized before. These countries still follow political systems of the colonizer. The problem with these systems is they are not adapted to the countries which is due to the country's situation weaknesses such as the intellectual level of the nation to keep up of the system and better understand it. Conflicts in the Orient in the last decade are an outcome of all these accumulations. They are a natural consequence of years of human rights abuses, economic mismanagement, inexistent freedom of speech and forgetting about human dignity. Considering all these factors, a revolutionary rage was created and awakened people to shout for a radical change. The Arab Spring movement as the perfect illustration of the turmoil. And unfortunately, it has been a fertile environment for armed conflicts which drew the attention of international politics. Civil society represented by NGOs and INGOs are among the actors advocating for human rights and dignity in these circumstances. Their work consists of participating in talks, conducting development projects and providing instant relief to the victims of conflict. However, it is sometimes difficult, even impossible, to reach people in territories with conflicts to provide emergency assistance to the victims and work continuously on project for more durable development. The process is slow, and states do not offer to collaborate with humanitarian actors to provide assistance on time. There is evidently a serie of steps to follow to get access "legally" for presence in conflict areas, but the pressure is real because of time constraints since emergencies cannot wait by definition. The humanitarian assistance in the situation of emergencies is crucial but it is complicated at the same time; being there on time but not following the procedure or waiting for the procedure and putting people's loves on stake. Saving lives or compromising on their principles. The delicacy of the situation has made it necessary for NGOs and humanitarian actors to build teams of humanitarians who are well trained and can act without huge cost. It is why it was needed to create humanitarian diplomacy teams among NGOs and INGOs as a model of state's diplomacy to negotiate access

and how assistance is going to be assured facing the political entities in charge of the conflict areas.

It is debated by the humanitarians themselves that the appellation of diplomacy should be held or replaced since it gets sometimes mixed and overlapped with state diplomacy. Some humanitarians even refused the word diplomacy because they do not consider themselves diplomats since it is very different from what state diplomacy is. The main difference is the involvement of the political agenda obviously because humanitarians are supposed to be completely neutral and impartial, but it is not the focus point of this paper. It is rather about humanitarian diplomacy and negotiations, the steps followed by NGOs and INGOs to deliver humanitarian relief. This paper is also aiming to shed light on humanitarian diplomacy practiced by NGOs in field works in conflict areas and how it is moved from theory to practice.

Problem Formulation:

How is the humanitarian diplomacy practiced by NGOs and INGOs can be effective in providing assistance in conflict areas?

Methodology:

outline:

This section will outline the methods used to write this paper. To respond to the question in the problematic. A combination of a theoretical background and case studies will help in doing so. The paper is based on qualitative research methods, which means using the context of the source, contextualizing it and interpreting it subjectively. The qualitative method is over chosen because different opinions and ways of looking to the data can be used which gives the work an analysis aspect and research privilege. The methods chosen has its disadvantages, which are the subjectivity of the interpretation and being based mainly on the researcher's skills.

Two cases studies are chosen to help answering the problematic. The first case study is The World Food Program experience in Somalia from 2007 to 2013 in the presence of Al-Shabaab Al Mujahid armed group. The WFP was responsible for food aid and nutrition during that period in Somalia. The second case study is Médecins Sans Frontieres experience in Somalia during the same period and facing Al-Shabaab's armed group violence. Both case studies aim at identifying the traits of humanitarian diplomacy in comparing the two organizations' models. A brief review of literature is added to the paper to have a better and detained understanding of the ICRC's model of humanitarian diplomacy. It is seen necessary to talk about that model because of the constant reference of the ICRC's contribution to the humanitarian diplomacy field, as it is still a new addition to the world of humanitarism and emergency relief and action. The theoretical framework of this paper is composed of two parts. The first part is conducted to discuss constructivism as an IR theory. Two scholars will be mentioned: Nicholas Onuf and Alexander Wendt, as both names contributed in shaping constructivism in social theory at first and in IR theory recently. On a practical level, Human Needs Theory constitutes the second part of the theoretical framework. Maslow and Burton are mentioned to define human needs theory on a theoretical level and on a more conflict resolution level.

The analysis part is for comparing the two cases studies and reflecting on their humanitarian diplomacy steps in details. While the discussion is going to be a more reflective part of seeing humanitarian diplomacy in IR theory, Human Needs theory and trying to build through an answer for the problematic.

And finally, a conclusion to answer the research question the thesis is based on.

Sources:

The information outlined in this research is mainly collected from secondary data found in literature and publication, and certainly internet. For the theoretical framework, primary and secondary sources were combined and consulted from Aalborg University online library and Google. For the case studies, primary sources were used for The WFP case and interpreted and is derived mainly from the official website of the organization. For the MSF case study, a combination of primary and secondary sources was used to collect the information needed.

Limitations:

There were two main limitations faced in writing this project, the first one is the direct accessibility to NGOs. Several attempts were made to try to get an internship or a more direct contact other than data found on the internet, but they were unsuccessful. The second limitation is time restriction as the humanitarian field is a time-consuming research area, and it was a challenge to frame the research and discuss it in a limited scope as it will be done

The International Committee of the Red Cross Humanitarian Diplomacy model:

It is impossible to talk about humanitarian diplomacy without referring to the international committee of the red cross (ICRC) and its model of Humanitarian Diplomacy.

The ICRC founded in 1863, was a pioneer in engaging in humanitarian assistance and relief. With the headquarter in Geneva, the ICRC maintained a relationship with Switzerland and following its example of neutrality and peaceful intervention (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). However, it does not mean that the two intervene with each other's policies notably humanitarian policy and foreign policy. The ICRC's presence in the humanitarian relief scope is noticeable. It was an active participant in shaping the humanitarian law. The 1949 Geneva Conventions state parties recognized the ICRC as an impartial humanitarian actor and even assigned duties like visiting prisoners of wars and establishing an agency of tracing them (Harroff-Tavel, 2006).

The ICRC humanitarian diplomacy can be defined as a development of a network of relations with formal and informal responsibles of armed conflicts in order to find a mutual ground on with all parties can stand. That ground is founded by virtues of humanity with respecting the humanitarian international law (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). The humanitarian international law and the humanitarian principles are the laws of the ICRC humanitarian diplomacy in conflict areas. The ICRC humanitarian diplomacy aims at making the voices of the victims heard and negotiating neutrally humanitarian agreements with conflict parties (Harroff-Tavel, 2006).

The ICRC humanitarian diplomacy model is based on four points. First, it is independent from state diplomacy. Humanitarian diplomacy for the ICRC is totally an independent organism that is separated from state diplomacy. It is for the simple reason of keeping neutrality and putting the goal of protecting the dignity and alleviating the sufferance of human beings. It is made sure that the ICRC cannot be biased to a part of the conflict (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). Humanitarian diplomacy is unlike state diplomacy, it is not concentrated on bringing peace politically for the simple reason of failing in doing so and consequently losing its credibility as humanitarian actor that put the interest of people first and before any other motive (Harroff-Tavel, 2006).

Second, the ICRC humanitarian diplomacy is based on a wide network of state and non-state actors. Maintaining a relation with different groups, states, NGOs and civil society is essential to the ICRC's humanitarian diplomacy. It has the freedom to engage a dialogue with non-state actors and discussing humanitarian issues more than states because of it neutrality and ability to be apolitical towards situations faced (Harroff-Tavel, 2006).

Third, the ICRC humanitarian diplomacy is based on discretion. When it is necessary to have a discussion with a certain entity that can be a state or an armed group, it is important for the discussions to be private with no media's presence to avoid public pressure on parties. It is also aimed to reassure the parties that the space for communication is completely safe, but the confidentiality has a price which is the total dedication and will to solve the humanitarian problem faced.

Fourth and last, humanitarian diplomacy for the ICRC is targeted only for humanitarian purposes and do not promote peace and solving conflicts. Getting involved in the political aspect of a conflict means that the ICRC is choosing a side, or it is sponsored by a party of the conflict (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). The Committee's ultimate objective is to protect human beings suffering in the conditions of a war or conflict and protecting their dignity. It is also important because if engaging with a state to restore peace in a conflict area fails, it would take down the humanitarian work with it which is an enormous risk that the ICRC would not take (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). And finally, neutrality is one of the virtues that the ICRC promote to have better access to conflict areas. Giving up this property would cost losing the credibility and becoming a political actor instead (Harroff-Tavel, 2006).

The ICRC insists on distinguishing between being a diplomat and practicing humanitarian diplomacy. It is called being a delegate, which is different from being a diplomat (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). A diplomat is a representation of state which implies political agendas and motives that serve the state represented. Diplomats also act upon foreign policy that is a product made by a state with a certain ideology, religion and a personalized notion of power (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). The ICRC humanitarian delegates do not fall into these definitions. They go by the international humanitarian law and the humanitarian principles. Delegates serve only the interests of victims of wars and armed conflicts without any motive to implant an ideology or an interest or a particular party (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). They also have no religion affiliation or preference. There were times when the ICRC engaged in negotiations listening to religious presentations and non-religious ones showing nothing but the will to help people who suffer.

It is important to accept differences and sometimes put them aside to focus on humanism rather than other motives (Harroff-Tavel, 2006).

To Analyze and discuss Humanitarian Diplomacy, it is mandatory to mention diplomacy itself and distinguish between different streams of it. Some scholars consider Humanitarian Diplomacy as a subfield of public diplomacy. However, in this paper, the focus will be on humanitarian diplomacy specifically and it is for this reason it is needed to discuss public diplomacy vs humanitarian diplomacy.

According to the Encyclopedia of Public Relations (2013), public diplomacy is different from traditional diplomacy in a way that the latter is an inter-governmental communication, while the first is a communication between a government and foreign citizens (Heath 2013). It was a foreign policy tool shaped after the Cold War and applied by powerful countries (Heath 2013). However, it is now adopted by small countries, regional governments, unrecognized nation-states, non-governmental organizations, etc. (Heath 2013).

Along with the four fundamental points that distinguish the humanitarian diplomacy of the ICRC, the latter mentions that there are, indeed, some challenges that non-state actors could face in applying humanitarian diplomacy. One of the biggest challenges is practicing humanitarian diplomacy in an armed conflict and having to negotiate with an armed group (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). Armed groups use intimidation to maintain the power and do not respect the war laws most of the time. The ICRC recommends to respond by negotiating access and advocating humanitarian law with armed groups in addition to provide assistance to those who need it (Harroff-Tavel, 2006). When it is extremely difficult to engage in any kind of dialogue with the group, the ICRC goes with a third party that can communicate directly with the armed group and it is close to their approaches politically or religiously so they can have a positive influence on them (Harroff-Tavel, 2006).

Theoritical Freamework:

In this chapter, I will discuss two theories to use as a theoretical background of the analysis. I will discuss Constructivism as a theory of IR and Human Needs Theory (HNT) to analyze humanitarian diplomacy practiced by humanitarian actors in the scope of international relations discipline and a conflict resolution theory

Constructivism in International Relations Theory:

International relations discipline is the study of relations between states politically, economically, and socially. It was adopted as a discipline after World War I to look in depth into the factors pushing states to opt for war in order to prevent it (Lawson, 2015). International Relations theory (IR theory) is a tool that enables to analyze aspects of the world through different lenses (McGlinchey, Walters and Scheinpflug, 2017). Realism and Liberalism are considered mainstream theories and were adopted for decades to explain the relation between power and state, considering the material factors only. By the 1970s, IR theory had grown and broaden to use different approaches including economic and social factors (Burchill et al., 2005). The debate between realists and liberalists reached nowhere in IR theory to have a better understanding and decide about the potential of cooperation between states (Burchill et al., 2005). After the end of the Cold War, the power balance that was a pattern of two blocks no longer existed which opened the discussion for the future of power development and let the chance of new streams of theories to participate in the international discussion. This gave the floor to the rise of the constructivist school. There are several factors that contributed to reconsidering constructivism; the debate between rationalists and critical theorists gave an opportunity to constructivists to express their point of view towards non-rationalist perspective (Burchill et al., 2005). Realism and neo-realism focus on the power of state and military to ensure the state's survival in the international world and giving the title of "anarchical" to the international system. Liberalism builds upon it by saying that states' interests are a priority and anarchy is constant, but shared economic and political interests should be highly present for international cooperation (Burchill et al., 2005). Critical theory challenges rationalists in including the social factor. They argue that actors, their identities and interests are socially constructed; and knowledge is highly related to interest (Burchill et al., 2005). Critical theory also discussed international relations between theory and practice, giving the theoretical analysis part an importance especially during Cold war period. By the end of the Cold War, the neo-realist and neo-liberal perspectives could not predict and understand the changes that were reshaping the global order. The fall of the Soviet Union and the two-block power that was holding the international system was another factor for constructivism to thrive and opened new way to perceive international relations and theory (Burchill *et al.*, 2005).

To better understand constructivism as an IR theory, it is essential to point to it in the frame of social theory. Constructivism in social theory is leaning towards idealism (Jackson and Sorensen, 2006). According to social theory, there is no objective truth or final truth. The social world is constructed by men according to the beliefs, culture and languages they were structed into. In the context of international relations, constructivism is intersubjective in analyzing international matters.

Nicholas Onuf, a leading scholar and introducer of constructivism to IR, explains in his article Constructivism: A User's Manual (1998) that people are responsible for the world they are living in. In other words, people construct the environment they are in, from social relations to rules to norms etc. (Onuf, 2012). Constructivism says that people and society are linked together and cannot exist without each other. It's a two-way process but it is necessary for a third element to be included which is rules (Onuf, 2012). He refers to the three elements as rules, agents, agencies. These elements are a construct of raw material and shaping it into the way the world it is. Agencies and actors have a complementary existence that goes both ways to shape a society and organized by the existence of rules (Zehfus, 2002).

"Rules are statements that tell people what we should do" (Onuf, 2012). It is the medium between people and society and organizes their conducts according to what have been agreed on. When making a rule, it is making a standard either by following them or by following the people from the society and in this case it is called a conduct (Onuf, 2012). The terms agent and people can be interchangeable when people are active in a society. People become agents when they are making rules and acting upon them in an institutional context. An institution is composed of rules and patterns. Agents also act within an institution when they are given choices of following or breaking the rules (Zehfus, 2002). A society with rules and practices forms an institution. Institutions make an environment in which people become agents and act rationally according to a pattern of rules (Onuf, 2012).

Given all the definitions and keywords that form Onuf's theory of constructivism, it can be said that society is a complex structure. Its three variables, agents, rules, and institutions are interrelated and have a double property of being dependent and independent. Agents are considered autonomic as individuals, but the independency is taken away when they act as a group and additionally, they are restricted by rules. The same rules give them the chance to act collectively and, in their turn, limit the agents as a group and not as an individual (Onuf, 2012).

Agents speak to formulate a rule. Speaking in a way to get an agent to act is defined as speech act. Onuf explains that speech in another element attached to the rules since it is the form to deliver the idea and make individuals or groups understand it and follow it. According to Onuf, there are three types of speech act: assertive, directive and commissive (Onuf, 2012).

In Speech Act Theory (Austin 1962; Searle 1969), action and language are similar in a way that we create rules and condition the way the hearer is going to act by speaking in a certain form. It is like playing chess; the other player is acting according to the first player's move (Duffy and Frederking, 2009). Assertion is stating a belief to make the hearer share it too. Directives is when the speaker expresses directly the intention of making the hearer act the way intended. Commissive speech is when the speaker is expressing the will to do something in the future (Duffy and Frederking, 2009).

Constructivists like Onuf based their theory on speech act theory because speech and language are considered an important tool that contributes to the making of rules. Assertive rules are information provided and stated in specific term to offer a kind of guidance (Onuf, 2012). They come more of a form of instructions. Directive rules are imperatives in their form. They are fast forward in giving "orders" that the hearer must follow. It is the speaker who decides the should and should nots and he (the speaker) states openly what are the consequences if they are discarded (Onuf, 2012). And finally, commissive rules are composed of promises. The hearer gives promises to the speaker and once they are given, they become "commitment-rules" (2012: p12). Rules turn the material components into a social reality by the means of agents (Zehfus, 2002). The same agents are limited by the rules and it cannot be said that agents have full independency. Agents as a group are the one creating rules in the first place, but it limits their opportunities in front of other groups that are agents too (Onuf, 1998). Understanding the role of agents in creating and acting by rules of their own making without forgetting that in doing so it limits their freedom in a way makes us understand how a country is made (Onuf, 1998). It can be said that Onuf gave a definition of a country using constructivism to draw a picture of how countries are constructed.

Onuf's constructivism is also known as hard constructivism. He believes that institutions are man-made products that are socially constructed and made normative by individuals who once participating in the system, they become actors and the interest of these actors change by the social context. He also differentiates the material and social world. For Onuf, material worlds are certainly needed but only as a raw material to build on. It is the final product that is essential which is the social construction and the inter-relative roles and positions of agents, institutions and rules.

Alexander Wendt has also contributed in shaping the theory of constructivism building on Onuf's beliefs, but also making it more of an IR theory. Wendt believes that IR constructivism is more influenced by idealism because it is characterized by shared ideas and beliefs more than material facts. Identities and interests are not an outcome of the material world but rather the ideas and identities built by agents (Palan, 2000). Materialism for Wendt is associated with self-interest and power that is dominant on the international politics. He acknowledges the presence of rules and norms but he does not share the belief that norms are rules are rigid and exercised in only one direction (Palan, 2000). Identities and interests are not given and it is interaction that identities are built (Jackson and Sorensen, 2006).

Identity and behavior are the core of constructivism according to Wendt. Identity is an understanding of the self and is shaped when there is an interaction with a structure (Dixon, 2013). The international system according to constructivism is a society with structure and shared beliefs and social relationships. Norms are an outcome of the social relationships that regulate state behavior (Dixon, 2013).

Human Needs Theory (HNT):

Survival has been the instinctive behavior of humans since their existence; how to hunt, how to eat, how to protect themselves from danger, etc. it also through the times that men learnt how to differentiate between survival, living, and development. The process is based on what was available and what was not and what need is necessary, and which one is complementary. Human Needs Theory developed by Abraham Harlod Maslow in "Theory of Human Motivation" in 1943 is discussing human needs as part of behaviorism and psychoanalysis.

Maslow presented human needs in a hierarchical way to show that humans fulfill the basic needs first before moving to the next ones that are less basic and fill in the category of complementary. They are illustrated in a pyramid starting from the bottom with the most basic need and goes up to the least basic one.

Maslow's human needs are composed of five stages. The first and most basic one is the physiological need. It is related to a naturalistic composition of human body and its need for nutrition. It is an effort made by the body to keep a state of blood stream that is associated with the need to get fed and hunger (Maslow, 1943). Physiological needs are not limited to only nutrition, it is also the need of sleep, sexual desire, maternal behavior in animals and sheer activity, which all are essential for the human body and belong to the level of survival (Maslow,

1943). It is a pre-requisite to fulfill the physiological needs in order to move to the next ones. For example, Utopia for a hungry man is a place with food. The human mind can only think of other characteristics as complementary as long as he hasn't fulfilled his need for eating (Maslow, 1943). Safety needs come after the physiological ones. Safety needs are strongly linked to security that takes different aspects, financially, socially, health, and wellness (Maslow, 1943). To better understand his point, he illustrates it through the urge to stop a child's colic from bad food. He is well fed which satisfies the physiological need but once he is in pain from food the whole perception of life and needs changes to become a priority to stop the pain so the child would have the feeling of safety (Maslow, 1943). Safety is for sure simplified through Maslow's example because it is much more complex and layered for adults, but it is only looked at when the physiological needs are satisfied (Maslow, 1943).

Building on Maslow's pyramid of human needs, other scholars developed the idea of needs and distinguished it from satisfiers. The main difference between the two is former are universal and the latter are cultural and negotiable (Danielsen, 2005). Basic human needs do not vary in all environments and cultures, but what changes is how to satisfy those needs and it is strongly linked to the culture and society (Max-Neef, Antonio and Martin, 1992). No matter what type of society or environment a human being belongs to, the fundamental needs stay the same, but what is variable is how to satisfy these needs and this part is associated with economic goods because they are a form of being, having, doing and interacting and they are capable of affecting the efficiency of the satisfiers (Max-Neef, Antonio and Martin, 1992). The relation between needs and satisfiers and economic goods is dynamic and permanent, because they define the culture and culture defines the style of development (Max-Neef, Antonio and Martin, 1992).

When it comes to conflicts, it was essential to develop theories to analyze them in relation to the international political sphere; starting from facts how they started and including all elements that contributed in their growth. Theories has always been needed to study the consequences of conflicts and predict the future of the conflict area in order to find solutions that can be fruitful and serving to the well-being of the populations. In order to achieve these goals, it is necessary to mention the work of scholars that based their work on basic Human Needs Theory to try solving conflicts. John Burton is one of the most known scholar worth mentioning when talking about HNT.

John Burton's started from the basic needs theory of Maslow to forge a theorize conflict solving. He argues that participation, identity, recognition and security are non-material needs and are universal. The repression of these needs leads directly to conflict (Grace, 2015). Deep

rooted conflicts are the outcome of needs that are ignored. And by needs, he doesn't mean the material ones, he means the non-material social ones. In order to solve conflicts, non-material needs should be addressed (Grace, 2015). Conflict resolution is a methodology dedicated to respond to conflicts caused by lack of human needs conditions.

Case Studies: Somalia's humanitarian crisis and facing Harakat Al-Shabaab Al-Mujahid

In this part of the thesis, I am going to discuss two case studies where humanitarian diplomacy was used differently in conflict areas and how humanitarian actors faced the challenges in these conflict areas. Somalia is one of the most unstable places of the world. With a civil war that has been going for more than two decades, it is considered a failed state and the humanitarian crises are increasing. The first case study is The World Food Programme (WFP) experience in Somalia. It was one of the organizations that has always been present in there, giving as much assistance as they can in order to save people. The second case study is from Médecins Sans Frontières's (MSF) presence in Somalia during the same period. Both organizations were operating in the same areas that include Mogadishu and Daynile from 2008 to 2013 in the presence Harakat Al-Shabaab Al-Mujahid as an armed group controlling the areas covered by the organizations. The experiences are taken from official reports made by WFP and MSF after the experience and reports made by research agencies investigating about humanitarian diplomacy and negotiations in conflict areas.

Context:

Before going through the humanitarian assistance experience in Somalia, it is needed to mention the timeline and the frame in which the aid actors have been working.

Somalia's civil war took a violent turn in 1991 when after the fall of Siad Barre's regime. Clans began to fight for control which caused devastation and consequently famine and citizens leaving to the neighbor countries seeking refuge (*Somalia Civil War*, 2018). The US and The United Nations (UN) were intervening when rival leaders were fighting in the South. It caused more dislocation and starvation among civilians which led the UN to intervene militarily and launching peacekeeping operations. From 1995 to 2000 the dissolution of the Somali state continued and there was still no government formed to make the situation more stable. There was some kind of calm and economic emergence towards the end of 1990s when a transitional government was formed in 2000 by Puntland declaring itself a regional administration, but it collapsed again by losing its power (*Somalia Civil War*, 2018).

The Transnational National Government (TNG) was formed in 2004 with 275-member parliament, and the Transitional Federal Government (TFG) was formed months after giving the chance for the Islamic courts to emerge with Abdullah Yusuf as its leader (*Somalia Civil*

War, 2018). In 2007, the Ethiopian troops dispersed the Islamic court and the militant wing Harakat Al-Shabaab fought against foreign forces and had control over Southern Somalia. Violence increased with the group, causing casualties among Kenyan soldiers and even civilians and UN workers. The US condensed its presence and intervention after 09/11 fearing that the country would be a fertile ground to form terrorist groups and attacks. Its policy was to engage with TFG and move American diplomats and aid workers to assist with the government transition and build projects for development purposes (Somalia Civil War, 2018). Several attempts towards peace making in Somalia were made by the UN security council; the challenge has been to face Al-Shabaab attacks that put down hundreds of aid workers, African Union force (AMISOM). Although there was a government by 2015, it lacked capacities to function relatively normal by managing human resources and building infrastructure and confrontation with Al-Shabaab was on going involving AMISOM and militias too (Somalia Civil War, 2018).

WFP experience in Somalia:

World Food Programme (WFP) is one of the branches of the UN. It was established in 1961 to alleviate hunger in the world. The presence of WFP in Somalia is significant. It has been an active actor for more than three decades in Somalia providing food assistance and ensuring food security. According to their strategic plan, the WFP's objectives in Somalia are to prepare for and save lives during emergencies, rebuild livelihoods after emergencies, and reducing hunger and strengthening the capacity of countries to reduce hunger (WFP, 2008).

Since the beginning of civil war in Somalia, the country has known continuous food insecurity and livelihood that worsened around conflict time. It affected communities to cope with natural disasters and shocks (WFP, 2012). After the government was put down, systems of governance were formed locally, and their stability is variant according to the location. For example, the region of Putland and Somaliland in the north region had managed to ensure some stability in comparison with the rest of the country (WFP, 2012). However, administratively speaking, their capacities were still limited facing of the security issue especially in controlling the border conflict between the Sool and Sanag regions. Regional and local government in central Somalia had managed whatsoever to maintain a stability over the region the shoot-out Al-Shabaab from this area with the help of Ahlu Sunna Waljamaa, one of the local authorities that were strongly present in central Somalia (WFP, 2012). But the south has remained controlled by Al-Shabaab since 2008.

According to the WFP experience in Somalia, conflict is on the top reasons that contributes livelihood insecurity and displacements. The outcomes are instantly visible over restrictions in market access and trade and fighting over sources especially in the south-central area because of the armed conflict between Al-Shabaab and TFG (WFP, 2012). The confrontations between both parties, adding the support of the Kenyan and Ethiopian military forces for the TGF, affected the markets and security of the civilians (WFP, 2012).

Humanitarian access is affected negatively in these conditions. It has been controlled and reduced due to the presence of Al-Shabaab group in the southern areas. According to the strategic plan of WFP, the presence of the humanitarian actor is key to develop the communities' capacity to face hunger and livelihood security. But since the humanitarian actors face security challenges, it has limited their work to direct food delivery and emergency nutrition (Kreutzberger, 2010). The WFP ensured nutrition for 2 million beneficiaries until the beginning of 2010, which still a significant number, but it decreased from April 2010 because of the security issues with Al-Shabaab (Kreutzberger, 2010). The expansion of the militia group in 2008 was the peak period of attacks against humanitarian actors. International efforts were made to limit the group's activities such as labelling them as a terrorist organization, but it only escalated the violence (WFP, 2012). WFP aid workers have noticed that work conditions have become harder when the international community started paying attention to the armed group. The arrests and harassments did not exclude any humanitarian organization present in the conflict but the focus on WFP workers were intense in comparison to the other relief representations. Since the WFP is funded by the UN and the United States mainly, it has made Al-Shabaab precautious towards the intentions of the organizations. This has caused threats and attacks against the actors with demands that could not be accepted by a humanitarian actor (Kreutzberger, 2010). For instance, demanding "taxes" and bribes to let the food supplies travel from ports to lands. Trucks were stopped and blocked from continuing to their destinations unless they pay security taxes and sometimes they demand the food to be distributed among the group instead of reaching to civilians (Bubna, 2010). Al-Shabaab completely banned WFP activities in February 2010 by releasing a press statement that ordered Somali people to stop working or collaborating with the WFP. The organization continued to operate in Southern and Central Somalia but faced huge pressure from the group by delaying food distributions. The resistance pushed Al-Shabaab further to take complete control of WFP warehouses which consequently led to withdrawal from the group controlled areas. (Kreutzberger, 2010). Based on the situation in Somalia and what humanitarian organizations were enduring during that period, WFP was flexible in assessing its approaches according to the changes. The objectives

set were obviously not possible to reach, and priority was given to what Somalian and the security situation in Somalia needed.

It can be deducted that communication with Al-Shabaab was almost impossible and it is needed to act upon the urgent situation of deteriorating nutrition and displacements caused by the political conflicts and natural disasters and droughts. The WFP did not stop their operations in Somalia, but instead, tried to redirect the strategies to fit in the new setting. WFP switched to cooperation with other organizations at the systemic level in order to improve information sharing mechanisms. There was a collaboration with the Designated Official and the United Nations Department of Safety and Security to work on operating security standards (Kreutzberger, 2010). Other collaborations with INGOs and the private sector with the assistance of local authorities to continue the mission without putting WFP in the front picture. The organization also reviewed and strengthened staff skills. Experience is always favored among humanitarian actors especially the ones working in conflict and fragile areas because it is a skill highly needed for decision making in delicate situations, however, due to the incidents that happened between 2008-2013 and costed WFP members of their staff, security risk assessments to protect workers were held more regularly and almost intensively on the ground (Kreutzberger, 2010).

When it comes to the operational level, focus was mainly on transportation and logistics. In 2009, an incident was reported by UK Channel 4 of allegations that the food assistance from WFP do not reach the intended beneficiaries (GOA, 2012). The UN Monitoring Group of Somalia reported that 50% of food aid was diverted (Jackson and Aynte, 2013). The investigation office of WFP looked into the problem and ensuring safe passage for aid convoys became a priority; the majority of cargos come to Somalia across the sea via Mogadishu port, but since the security situation other alternatives were proposed and favored like land routes (Kreutzberger, 2010). One of the strategies WFP adopted is reducing the numbers of trucks in convoys to make their mobility easier in unsecure areas and situations (Kreutzberger, 2010). WFP switched to commercial Somali transport companies for food distributions and escorted by local army men for the simple reason of the familiarity of locals with the surroundings and armed groups are more tolerant of locals than international aid workers (Kreutzberger, 2010).

MSF experience in Somalia:

Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF) or Doctors without Borders is an international independent medical humanitarian organization that provides medical relief to people in different contexts such as epidemics disasters, conflicts, exclusion from healthcare (MSF, 2019). It is composed of health professionals along with administrative staff. It was founded in Paris in 1971 by doctors and journalists and now it is considered one of the biggest INGOs that contributes to humanitarian assistance all over the world (MSF, 2019).

MSF presence in Somalia dates since 1979. The country has always been a turmoil of violence with unfavored conditions for organizations to work in. ups and downs for more than 30 years have made the presence of MSF difficult on the Somali land. Until mid 2006, when the Islamic Courts Union (ICU) took over Mogadishu and some kind of peace was established that made the international airport to reopen again (Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011).

To better understand the Somali conflict and the mindset of the locals and the armed group, MSF took an exploratory mission in summer 2006 with one of the members who were the head of a mission in 1997 in Somalia. The visit was for Jamaame, a town in the region of Mogadishu, and numeral rural areas around. Medical needs were identified quickly, and a project started in there to treat children with diarrhea cause from drought and drinking river water (Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011). It was a step towards working in Mogadishu to establish some kind of familiarity with the work MSF is doing and not being attacked and questioned for the nature of relief and its agenda from the militias and political groups. Right after Al-Shabaab took over the rule, it was easier for the organization to keep a well-established project than starting a new one. MSF has built a reputation in Somalia over the year of neutrality and commitment to the Somali welfare which helped to move suspicion over the organization as an agent for foreign political intervention (Belliveau, 2015).

Another factor that might help MSF in delivering assistance in Somalia is the nature of the service provided. Medical relief is necessary in any given situation. It is needed from civilians and the militias, and given the neutrality factor of medical humanitarian services, everybody is benefiting including Al-Shabaab group members (Belliveau, 2015). The project combined medical consultations and surgical interventions. Beneficiaries came from areas very close to the hospital where the project was set, mainly victims of bombing and raids, and gradually patients came from further areas. This is an indicator of success especially because the hospital was in neighborhood controlled by the Islamist opposition in 2008. It was common that members of armed groups refused to come to the hospital, so more than 50% of patients were women and children; but once direct clashes began combatants began to come and there is no distinction between them and armless civilians(Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011). It is mainly this factor that kept MSF going in Somalia. Medical relief is essential in every situation but also the neutrality of the staff giving their services to injured members of both civilians and

armed groups. According to MSF report, it was sometimes difficult to explain the principle of neutrality to some parties. For example, the African Union officers saw MSF as "the opposition's surgeons". It was necessary to remind the public from time to time that combatants represent a small portion of the patients treated. Most of them and they represent around 70% are women and children (Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011).

The last key factor that MSF worked on to set its project in Somalia was the choice of the staff working there. The team project was composed of partially international staff and a big majority of Somali senior staff (Belliveau, 2015). It was essential to have locals among the team because they are familiar with the system and also accepted by the grand majority of the public. It was also a good means to carry talks and negotiations with the government or the political party. Before setting the project in Mogadishu, it was set in a hospital in Daynile which was controlled by the warlord and local entrepreneur Mohamed Qanyare. He was a key figure in Mogadishu and controlled the hospital. Talks were held with Qanyare to reassure him that access will be given to everyone, not only civilians(Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011). Being able to sit with him was not easy, but since the staff was composed of local people who already worked in Somalia prior 2008 and are no strangers to Qanyare, made it possible to negotiate and get approval to work in the hospital and later on set the project in Mogadishu (Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011).

Having this asset surely helped with getting access in the beginning, but it did not make it easy for communication with Al-Shabaab. Even though the group tolerated MSF's presence, the communication channel was very weak, almost inexistent. There was no direct communication with the group when the situation was getting more complicated by 2011 for example. Negotiations were limited between local representative of Al-Shabaab or what they call humanitarian representative and senior local staff of MSF. So basically, communication was between one single representative from the armed group who was not highly ranked and had to report back requests and demands. The waiting time was inconvenient to the organisation since it is a conflict area and emergencies were unpredictable (Belliveau, 2015). Additionally, the humanitarian officers were changed almost every three months and replaced by new ones, mostly non-locals and were non receptive to MSF's demands. However, Al-Shabaab's health officers were receptive but did not have much authority.

It is clear, as discussed before, that pre-establishment of the project in a rural area helped with the presence of MSF in Mogadishu between 2009 and 2012. For example, MSF, with the help of the medical team, was able to operate and manage the hospital without negotiations with Al-

Shabaab. However, talks with the group were needed for geographical expansion or international staff visits (Belliveau, 2015).

MSF was always ready to negotiate diplomatically but to a certain extent. As any other NGO working by the IHL and humanitarian principles, there are some limits that it cannot be crossed, otherwise the essence of the nongovernmental work shall not exist and has its impartiality. Crossing the red lines have even cost some organizations to withdraw from the region because it would hurt all parties more than serve them (Belliveau, 2015). In 2009, Al-Shabaab imposed 11 conditions on humanitarian actors present in the area in order for them to continue working there (Belliveau, 2015). The hardest ones were paying a 20,000 dollar tax every six months and dismissing female workers and replacing them with local male ones (Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011). Obviously, compromise was needed to keep the project going but again, the "product" MSF was offering was valuable to al-Shabaab, which helped the humanitarian actor to keep the project going without having to cross its red lines.

Analysis:

Both WFP and MSF contributed to the humanitarian assistance on different levels. Food assistance and medical relief remain the most needed services when it comes to emergencies in conflict areas. The experiences discussed above show how humanitarian diplomacy can be practiced on different levels and from different angles. In the case of the WFP, and according to the reports made by the organization, there was not a mention of negotiations through communication with Al-Shabaab. Their humanitarian diplomacy was seen through their strategies that were changing all the time according to the situation they were put into. Focus was more on the logistics of the service provided which is food delivery. The WFP is one of the humanitarian organizations that were present through the Somalian civil war and contributed in feeding millions of Somalians in war time and emergencies. Humanitarian assistance has been a priority to the organization and efforts were made at their best to meet the objectives set. Operating in a conflict area such as Somalia is challenging especially when it comes to negotiations for access which part of humanitarian diplomacy. According to the WFP case, humanitarian diplomacy was used in a different way. Communication with Al-Shabaab group was not possible because of their accusations of the organization of taking part of the US political agenda and being an ally to the government. Since the door for communication was almost closed, The WFP tried to use its humanitarian diplomacy in adjusting their strategic plan and coping mechanisms to adapt to the situation and conditions imposed by the armed group. The initial strategic plan put for 2008-2012 includes not only humanitarian relief in emergencies, but also helping the communities to develop the skills to face the future emergencies by themselves. Since the development part of the project was momently not possible to work on, WFP focused more on adapting their plan on an organizational, operational, and systemic level.

What is unique about WFP humanitarian diplomacy is the will to improve cooperation and coordination with external actors and the private sector. The WFP was having a hard time having access to Al-Shabaab controlled areas. Its strategy was in cooperating with other humanitarian actors in order to deliver food but keeping a low-key profile to be able to still work in there. Cooperation was also made with other UN agencies to collect information and information sharing for the purposes of better cooperation mechanism and improving security (Kreutzberger, 2010). Using the private sectors services has put WFP under the light of criticism of following a pragmatic approach. To ensure continuing transportation and distribution of food, WFP hired private security companies and sometimes cooperated with the

military. In some periods when violence against humanitarian actors was at its peak, WFP hired local armed guards and trucking companies to secure convoys (Kreutzberger, 2010). The principles of neutrality and impartiality are debated with the WFP decision to work with the armed guards, but the humanity principle was put forward which is not usual when it comes to respecting the humanitarian principles (Kreutzberger, 2010). The organization also put efforts in strengthening the capacity of staff by designing and conducting more training and educating modules to have a highly qualified team that can deal with the situation faced at the time. Unfortunately, there hasn't been any official data that depicts how the training was reflected in negotiating with Al-Shabaab, but according to the media and reports from agencies that conducted research of dealing with the armed group, the WFP was one of the organizations that had a difficult time with them (Jackson and Aynte, 2013). Based on the data and research, it can be said that the WFP humanitarian diplomacy was seen through their strategic plans and the ongoing plan improvements and adjustments and adopting a more pragmatic approach to humanitarian relief to continue food aid distribution despite the conditions imposed.

MSF experience was "safer" in terms of strategy. It is not seen as pragmatic as the WFP's. MSF has engaged in communication as a means of negotiating access as part of its humanitarian diplomacy. It is considered a relatively success story in comparison with other organizations that tried to do the same. The success goes to several factors which are the preproject preparation phase, the value of the product and the choice of the negotiators. Sending a team to Somalia before setting the project was a game a changer. It allowed the team to study the environment and develop a familiarity with the region and its culture to know how to engage with the people in power.

MSF succeeded to take over the hospital in Jamaame but when it came to making decisions it was never spoken by its name. It gave the mission of public speaking to the elderly clan leaders and people in power to speak to the local army and the militias. MSF public communication in Daynile was factual and close to the activity. It was important to keep a low profile and stay away from efforts of defeating AL-Shabaab. It was also important for MSF to distinguish themselves from international players and "do not talk politics" as they were asked by the group (Magone, Neuman and Weissman, 2011). Dialogue with Al-Shabaab was possible and easier to hold because they valued medical assistance more than other services offered by other humanitarian organizations. They rejected WFP food assistance and other food aid agencies accusing them of being allies with international actors to take down the group, but MSF's work was needed by the group itself because they -MSF-, from their part, worked neutrally and

impartially when it came to treatments and surgeries. This factor should be highly stressed as it was part of MSF humanitarian diplomacy to show their total impartiality in giving assistance no matter what the affiliation of the patients to not be accused of cooperation with the army or any international and external entity that declared the group as a terrorist affiliation that should be taken off power.

If MSF and WFP experiences and approaches to humanitarian diplomacy should be compared, MSF was more able to have a dialogue with Al-Shabaab than WFP. The latter could not do the same not because of its lack of tools or experience, it can be said that MSF assistance was more valued to AL-Shabaab than WFP's. additionally, it should not be forgotten that WFP is an entity of the United Nations that is seen by the group as an enemy since it is allied with the United States of America that both declared the group as terrorists who should be fought. The WFP humanitarian diplomacy is valued of a more in-depth approach since it targets strategies and always keep improving their means of working logistically, systematically and operationally. It is judged to be more pragmatic than MSF in sticking to the humanitarian principles and going by the ICRC model of humanitarian diplomacy, but it was a way of keeping the assistance going in a sterile environment for communication or dialogue with the armed group. WFP valued more the principle of humanity than impartiality and neutrality in collaborating with local army and the private sector to at least keep the food delivery going in a country declared under the threat of famine and epidemics. This does not invalidate nor devaluates MSF's humanitarian diplomacy. It is evident that the kind of service they are offering was a significant reason why Al-Shabaab group was tolerating them more than WFP since they personally benefit from the medical assistance, but it does not mean that MSF put forward neutrality and impartiality for accepting to work with the armed group causing a violent conflict.

Discussion:

Humanitarian intervention teams have always been one of the first actors in emergencies in conflict areas. As for humanitarian workers, they have been putting their lives in danger for the sake of saving victims of wars and arms conflict. For decades, their work has been put aside from the picture of international politics and international relations as a whole. The emphasis put on states and power and the importance of sovereignty has eclipsed the role of NGOs and INGOs in the political sphere. NGOs are part of civil society that represent a big chunk of the construction of the state. It is the civil society that observes and controls what governments are doing. The power of civil society lies in the public opinion and non-governmental institutions to which NGOs belong. NGOs' role as an effective part of the social society lies in their advocacy and their will to discuss freely issues that are related in the first degrees to the citizens as human rights issues and development issues. The engagement and the role of the NGOs shows more in the states of war and areas of conflict. It is with their advocacy, development project and humanitarian relief that people get their voices and their cases can be shown to the international world in order to act upon the situation.

Humanitarian diplomacy is an important part of NGOs' humanitarian assistance. it is the means to open the doors to their teams to operate in needed areas with emergencies. It is a relatively new concept that NGOs been practicing recently with the label humanitarian diplomacy rather than just negotiations or getting access. It is undeniable that getting access is a huge part of humanitarian diplomacy, but other tools and practices are also needed in order to have a full definition of the concept.

Based on the two cases studies analyzed of the WFP and MSF in Somalia as examples of their humanitarian diplomacy in Somalia facing Harakat Al-Shabaab Al Mujahid, it is dedicated that humanitarian diplomacy is very flexible when it comes to practice and applying it on the field work. The two organizations were present during the same period of time which is between 2008 and 2013. It means they both were in the same conditions with the difficulties put against humanitarian actors. Both MSF and the WFP are renown organizations with projects and teams all over the world offering their assistance to the victims of wars, armed conflicts, and natural disasters. However, each one had its own way of perceiving humanitarian diplomacy and applying it to the environment they were working in. The WFP put its focus on continually adjusting their strategies to fit with the ongoing and escalading relations with Al-Shabaab. It is true that the armed group were giving a hard time to the humanitarian representations present on their controlled areas, but the WFP was one of the organizations that suffered the most due

to the following. The WFP is an apolitical organization that is part of the UN institutions. Since the UN declaration of the group as a terrorist one that should be eliminated, Al-Shabaab started acting against the WFP to the extent of totally banning it for some time around 2010. It is known to Al-Shabaab that the United States is one of the sources of the UN's funding. And the US has shown its motives towards Al-Shabaab since the group admitted their affiliation to Al Qaida terrorist organization. Linking all these factors can show what image the group constructed for the WFP. According to the constructivist theory, conducts and behaviors are a construct of human beings or agents putting the rules with the use of language. Both Al-Shabaab group and the WFP shaped an image that each one acts upon the other. The WFP being part of the UN has the image of being an ally to the US which means for Al-Shabaab that it is considered a biased actor and a wester presence in their soil that should be destroyed. On the other hand, Al-Shabaab had controlled areas and put regulations for NGOs, civilians, and the government that everybody should follow and in breaking their code, consequences should follow. The image of Al-Shabaab and the WFP is constructed the way is it because they were put in the environment they were put in. if it was a different environment with different conditions, the rules would change and situation of both the WFP and Al-Shabaab would differ. MSF did not face such a problem. It is known to be a completely independent organization that offers medical assistance in emergencies. It had a long history with Somalia and its presence had been accepted by people and the armed group. When its team managed to operate in Mogadishu and the neighboring areas, it had made clear that they will not speak politics. This is a rule that the MSF has normalized since day one to reassure Al-Shabaab of their total neutrality and not get involved in any political misunderstanding that would cost them their presence for relief.

Following the ICRC humanitarian diplomacy model, MSF seems to work by it more than the WFP. MSF has kept their neutrality and impartiality throughout their presence in the period of Al-Shabaab's control. The team refused to talk to any political party in the hospital, pushing the locals who were in charge to confront any kind of problem and keeping their talks limited to the medical mission they were there for. When negotiating access, the administrative team held meetings with the humanitarian officer of Al-Shabaab in discretion without the presence of the media or any entity that would pressure any party or make the atmosphere of dialogue difficult in any way. Involving third parties was also one of the tools that the ICRC humanitarian model mentions, and MSF acted by. MSF engaged and involved older leaders of clans and tribes to dialogue with the armed group and economic leaders and political ones for the simple reason of letting negotiations happen between locals. Seeing familiar local faces is

always good start and a kind of reassurance to the other party that there is no extern or Western power that tries to take over their land and insert their agents for political agendas. Another point that helped MSF's humanitarian diplomacy case to be more successful is the need of their services by Al-Shabaab group. According to HNT, it is the urge for needs that push human beings in acting in a certain way in given situations. in the case of MSF, Al-Shabaab members themselves were wounded during the armed conflict with the army and governments and needed more medical facilities that they can afford. The nature of their need changed their perception of the "virality" or the violence against MSF. The priority of the need of security paved the way for MSF's presence on the controlled areas without much difficulties as the WFP faced. This does not under-estimate the role of the WFP in alleviating the sufferance of people in Somalia. However, this was not considered by Al-Shabaab because it does not affect the members directly. Again, if this theory is analyzed according to the Human Needs Theory, the armed group saw food delivery as complementary to them unlike medical assistance.

The WFP model of humanitarian diplomacy and MSF's are different indeed, but it does not mean that one is wrong and the other is right. Humanitarian diplomacy is a tool practiced by hundreds of humanitarian relief actors present in conflict areas, but each one with its circumstances. However, they all obey by the international humanitarian law and the humanitarian principles.

In contacting Care International Denmark, CEO Rasmus Jacobsen shared his views and reflections on humanitarian diplomacy based on years of experience in Care Denmark and prior in the Danish Refugee Council. Getting access to conflict areas, Jacobsen sticks to applying the ICRC model and the humanitarian principles. However, NGOs have a more pragmatic approach. For him, it really depends on the continent/ place. In some places with military it is preferable to use the ICRC model, in other places it is better to do it pragmatically. There is no right or wrong way to do it. It is a matter of what works best according to the situation Starting with the Danish Refugee Council, it is definitely a more pragmatic organization since it works on both humanitarian assistance and development; but again, abiding by the ICRC model or not, what is most important to them is to deliver on the field work. And both of them have been successful to intervene in conflict areas that is what kept them there and going. Creating a dialogue is crucial to deliver services in conflict area. It is more about quality than method. The Danish Refugee Council has been for so many one of the only organizations that managed to stand still and deliver assistance in Syria doing cross border. In Iraq too, they succeeded to go to places no other NGOs could reach. Jacobsen were in charge of one of projects in Iraq as emergency director.

The government needs to know how and why and when humanitarian intervention is going to happen. Sometimes the difficulties consist of maintaining access more than getting access. He also highlights the physical danger that humanitarian actors are exposed to in conflict areas, which is an obstacle too to deliver aid, but it is more of negotiations with governments that defines the space and time they will get in order to be effective on the field.

Getting access can be on the expense of the humanitarian principles, but again it is broad to say that since interpretations of the principles differs from one person to the other. You cannot get full access and apply the humanitarian principles by the book. They always find themselves in situations where they have to compromise to reach areas. The compromise is extremely difficult but since they are negotiating, they have to take the humanitarian principles from theory to practice. Mr. Jacobsen mentioned that they are of course red lines that should not be crossed in negotiating access. He continues, red lines are signaling when "enough is enough" and how far to go accepting the conditions and when to pull out. In these discussions/ negotiations, there are many agencies with different red lines which makes it extremely difficult to act 100% by the humanitarian principles. Consequently, there is always an organization that can take a step further, which brings us again to negotiating the humanitarian principles, so it is extremely complex in the field. The complexity also shows in the presence of different agencies at the same time with crossing agendas and different red lines, and the necessity to cooperate in order to both operate at the same time.

For example, the red lines in Iraq for the Danish Refugee Council were around transit set ups that the military did. There was some sort of transition that displaced people did to go from an isolated area to a Clinique center camp. The Danish Refugee Council was operating there as well, and it was almost impossible to differentiate the Danish Refugee Council from government due to the military overtaking the area. At some point the Danish Refugee Council had to exit because they were not agreeing with the military method of dealing with the situation. From the people's perspective, they were seen as the Western presence in their territories and put the lives of humanitarian officers in danger.

A strong organization practices its humanitarian diplomacy on two levels: with governments and with the locals. It is important to perceive the acceptance of the people to whom the assistance is for. Talking to people in the areas of work and continuously explaining the kind of work done is crucial to the continuity of the humanitarian actor

Conclusion:

Humanitarian diplomacy has become a crucial part of NGOs and INGOs structure. It is a means to ensure access to the humanitarian actor and effectiveness in the field work. Even though it is a new addition to the structure, it can be seen applied in many ways and forms. The ICRC, as an initiative, has set a model to follow in order to ensure the integration of international humanitarian law. The humanitarian law is the only rule written explicitly that the humanitarian field goes about. Even the ICRC itself did mention the flexibility of humanitarian diplomacy and states that it is not something that can be followed by the book. Circumstances and conditions differ from an environment to another. Therefore, humanitarian diplomacy cannot be rigid as a written law. It more conducted by practices which are considered flexible. It is from here than the differentiation between state diplomats and humanitarian diplomats can be drawn.

The Case study of MSF brought in this research and the case study of the WFP illustrate the success and challenges humanitarian face when it comes to negotiating access. The conditions in Somalia with Harakat Al-Shabaab Al Mujahid has tested the limits of both of them and each one has dealt with the situation differently. The WFP was more pragmatic to the use of the ICRC model than MSF. It focused more on its strategies which gave its approach a depth but allowed itself to work with army guards and army contractors to ensure food delivery to the victims. The WFP has been more pragmatic maybe towards the practices of humanitarian assistance and diplomacy, but the respect of international humanitarian law was always present in its interventions. The WFP is still considered one of the organizations that stood still in front of Al-Shabaab during the period of the violence. It has delivered food to more than 2 million people per year with a small decrease in the last year of its presence due to the difficult conditions it was put in. it can be said that humanitarian diplomacy practiced by the WFP was effective despite the limitations that had. It was effective in its way of handling the pressure from the armed group even with no communication whatsoever. The organization opted to work on its strategy and internal logistics instead by updating internal policies, collaborating with external and local actors, cooperating with local merchants and truck companies and in doing that the WFP is contributing to the economy and growth of the local market. It is a way to show that there is not a single way of doing things.

For the case of MSF, the humanitarian team was more stick to the model set by the ICRC and it also was successful being present in Somalia during armed conflict time. MSF's humanitarian diplomacy was based on pre-research that was made before setting up the project. A special team's presence in Somalia doing research and getting in touch with local leaders is

an effective way that allowed them to have access to the region of the project and dialoguing with Al-Shabaab more easily than the others. Face to face negotiations were not at their best since the armed group is always pragmatic towards international humanitarian entities, but MSF opted for communicating with the locals using local senor staff to have the familiarity factor checked. Talking to national people is always easier and more effective when negotiating humanitarian access. National staff is familiar with the language, the culture, and the religion so using a speech that is adequate to the mentality of the people negotiating with brings effectiveness to humanitarian diplomacy. For a better understanding of humanitarian diplomacy, this paper drew the attention to the link between IR theory and humanitarian diplomacy. Constructivism was used to depict how the rules in society are constructed by agents and the organization of society is linked to the respect of these rules. Agents, actors and rules have an inter-relative relation the makes them dependent and independent at the same time. Looking at humanitarian diplomacy, it is not based on rigid rules but more on conducts. Conducts in constructivism are a form of rules that if they are accepted by the actors and applied within an agency, they become normative. Understanding this concept, humanitarians and humanitarian actors can apply humanitarian diplomacy in any given situation all parties who contributed in creating the rules go by them. Applying Human Needs Theory is also a way to have better practices towards a more affective humanitarian diplomacy. It is essential to identity and understand the needs of the party the humanitarian actor is negotiating with in order to detect the problem and solve it in an effective way. Needs can be material or nonmaterial. In the case of conflicts with violence towards citizens, it is recommended to think about the material needs first in order to identify the instant problem and then on the long term, to work on the non-material needs while grasping the history and the culture of the place as a step towards a better humanitarian diplomacy.

Bibliography and References:

Adelman, H. (1996) 'International HUmanitarian Aid Concepts Trends', pp. 1–12.

Adler-Nissen, R. (2015) 'Relationalism or why diplomats find international relations theory strange', in Reus-Smith, C. and Wheeler, N. J. (eds) *Diplomacy and the Making of World Politics*, pp. 284–308.

Adler, E. (2008) 'Constructivism and International Relations', *Handbook of International Relations*, (1), pp. 95–118. doi: 10.4324/9780203401880.

Ahmed, S. and Potter, D. M. (2006a) 'NGOs and International Relations Theory', in *NGOs in International Politics*, pp. 5–16.

Ahmed, S. and Potter, D. M. (2006b) 'NGOs in International Politics', p. 285.

Baconnet, O. (2017) Humanitarian Negotiation in International NGOs: what are the limitations of humanitarian negotiation for international NGOs? what can they do to become more effective? Paris.

Belliveau, J. (2015) 'Red lines and al-Shabaab: negotiating humanitarian access in Somalia', (March), pp. 1–10.

Bridges, K. M. (2010) 'Between aid and politics: Diagnosing the challenge of humanitarian advocacy in politically complex environments-the case of Darfur, Sudan', *Third World Quarterly*, 31(8), pp. 1251–1269. doi: 10.1080/01436597.2010.541084.

Bros, N. (2017) 'Public diplomacy and cooperation with non-governmental organizations in the liberal perspective of international relations', *Journal of Education Culture and Society*, 1, pp. 11–22. doi: 10.15503/jecs20171.11.22.

Bubna, M. (2010) 'Humanitarian Diplomacy and Failed States: Case Study of the WFP Operations in Somalia', *IDSA ISSUE BREIF*, pp. 1–9.

Bubna, M. (no date) 'Humanitarian Diplomacy & Failed States: Case Study of the WFP Operations in Somalia', *IDSA Issue Brief*, pp. 1–9.

Burchill, S. et al. (2005) Theories of International Relations. Third edit. PALGRAVE MACMILLAN.

Burton, J. (1997) 'Conflict Resolution: Towards Problem Solving', *Peace and Conflict Studies*, 4(2). Available at: http://nsuworks.nova.edu/pcs/vol4/iss2/2.

'Capture d'écran 2019-05-02 à 12' (no date).

CMI (2018) 'CMI BRIEF Humanitarian Diplomacy':, (4), pp. 1–4.

'Conflict: Human Needs Theory' (1990) Conflict: Human Needs Theory. doi: 10.1007/978-1-349-21000-8.

Coskun, B. B. (2015) Securitisation Theory, Analysing Desecuritisation: The Case of the Israeli-Palestinian Peace Education and Water Management. doi: 10.5848/csp.2823.00001.

Curylo, B. (2011) 'International negotiations in the context of the evolution of international relations: theoretical assumptions and observations', pp. 62–77.

Danielsen, G. (2005) 'Meeting Human Needs, Preventing Violence: Applying Human Needs Theory to the Conflict in Sri Lanka', *Course Essay, Buenos Aires, Universidad del Salvador*, 21.

Dixon, S. (2013) 'Steven Dixon: 'Humanitarian Intervention: A Novel Constructivist Analysis of Norms and Behaviour', *Journal of Politics & International Studies*, 9, pp. 126–172.

Duffy, G. and Frederking, B. (2009) 'Changing the rules: A speech act analysis of the end of the Cold War', *International Studies Quarterly*, 53(2), pp. 325–347. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2478.2009.00536.x.

FDFA (Federal Dept. of Foreign Affairs) (2014) 'Handbook on the International Normative Framework', (December), pp. 6–36.

Fenton, G., Peacocke, B. and Khogali, H. (2018) *Somalia : An evaluation of WFP 's Portfolio*. Francisco Rey Marcos, B. and Duval, S. (2015) 'Executive summary The humanitarian dimension in the aftermath of a peace agreement: proposals for the international community in Colombia', (February), pp. 1–10.

GOA (2012) WORLD FOOD Stronger Controls Needed in High-Risk Areas.

Grace, R. (2015) 'Understanding Humanitarian Negotiation : Five Analytical Approaches', pp. 3–4.

Grace, R. (2017) 'The Humanitarian as Negotiator: Developing Capacity Across the Sector', (September).

Habila, B. I. M. (no date) 'THE AXIS OF A HUMANITARIAN DIPLOMAT: A Short Review of Jan H. Boer 's Work At the Institute of Church and Society / Northern Area Secretariat, Jos'.

Harroff-Tavel, M. (2006) 'The Humanitarian Diplomacy of the International Committee of the Red Cross', (121), pp. 72–89. Available at: https://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/humanitarian-diplomacy-icrc.pdf.

HAŞİMİ, C. (2012) 'Turkey's Humanitarian Diplomacy and Development Cooperation', (September 2013), pp. 127–146.

Heath, R. (2014) 'Encyclopedia of Public Relations', *Encyclopedia of Public Relations*, pp. 712–713. doi: 10.4135/9781452276236.

Henry, A. H. (1942) 'John Burton: Forgotten Mandarin?', (February 2009), pp. 219–232.

ICRC (2004) 'What is international humanitarian law?', *Icrc*, pp. 1–2. Available at: http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/misc/5kzf5n.htm.

Jackson, A. and Aynte, A. (2013) Talking to the other side: Humanitarian negotiations with Al-Shabaab in Somalia.

Jackson, R. and Sorensen, G. (2006) 'Social constructivism', in *Introduction to International Relations Theories and Approaches*. 3rd edn. Oxford University Press, pp. 161–177. doi: 10.1093/0199251614.003.0009.

Jackson, R. and Sorensen, G. (2007) 'Social Constructivism', *Introduction to International Relations Theories and Approaches*, pp. 162–177.

Joseph, J. (2016) 'they are initiated, that is, how the decision to he their outcomes referendums may be either bindi, which means that the popular vote is the fina' lTra in the decision-making process, or advisory, whi used at the subnational level, for example, fe', (September), pp. 559–561.

Keating, M. and Lewis, P. (2016) 'Briefing Towards a Principled Approach to Engagement with Non-state Armed Groups for Humanitarian Purposes Towards a Principled Approach to Engagement with Non-state Armed Groups for Humanitarian Purposes', (January).

Kreutzberger, I. (2010) Food Aid in Somalia: Security Challenges for WFP and CARE, Tied Aid and Development Aid Procurement in the Framework of EU and WTO Law: The Imperative for Change. Radbound University Nijmegen. doi: 10.5040/9781474200226.ch-002. Krueger, B., Loughran, J. J. and Duit, R. (2005) 'Constructivism', in Dilemmas of Science Teaching: Perspectives on Problems of Practice. doi: 10.4324/9780203996294-21.

Lawson, S. (2015) Theories of International Relations: Contending Approaches to World Politics. Polity Press.

Loeb, J. (2012) 'Talking to the other side: Humanitarian engagement with armed non-state actors', *Humanitarian Policy Group*, 47(June), pp. 2003–2012. Available at: http://www.odi.org.uk/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/7968.pdf.

Magone, C., Neuman, M. and Weissman, F. (eds) (2011) *Humanitarian Negotiations Revealed The MSF Experience*.

Magrdžija, H. and Čelebić, N. (2017) 'The Role of Public Relations in the Humanitarian Diplomacy amidst Natural Disasters in Developing Countries: The Case Study of Red Cross of Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina and 2014 Southeast Europe Floods', in *International Conference on Economic and Social Studies*. International Burch University. doi: 10.14706/icesos1726.

Malcolm, C. (2009) BEING AND BECOMING: HUMANITARIAN INTERVENTION AND

THE CONSTRUCTED. Cardiff University.

Martínez, A. M. C. (2013) THE CONTRIBUTION OF HUMANITARIAN DIPLOMACY BY INTERNATIONAL RELIEF ORGANIZATIONS TO OBTAIN ACCESS TO CIVILIAN VICTIMS OF CONFINEMENT IN SAMANIEGO, COLOMBIA. Uppsala University.

Maslow, a H. (1943) 'A Theory of Human Motivation A Theory of Human Motivation', *Psychological Review*, 50(4), pp. 370–396. doi: 10.1037/h0054346.

Maslow, A. H. (1943) 'A theory of human motivation', *Psychological Review*, 50(4), pp. 370–396. doi: 10.1037/h0054346.

Matanda, S.-B. (no date) *Demobilisation & Reinsertion of Child Soldiers Humanitarian diplomacy in the field The RCRC role in Liberia.*

Maurer, P. (2014) 'Humanitarian Diplomacy and Principled Humanitarian Action Speech given by Mr Peter Maurer President of the International Committee of the Red Cross 2 October 2014', (October). doi: 10.1017/S181638311500082X.

Max-Neef, M., Antonio, E. and Martin, H. (1992) 'Development and human needs.', *Real life Economics*, pp. 197–214.

McCourt, D. M. (2016) 'Practice theory and relationalism as the new constructivism', *International Studies Quarterly*, 60(3), pp. 475–485. doi: 10.1093/isq/sqw036.

McGlinchey, S., Walters, R. and Scheinpflug, C. (eds) (2017) *International Relations Theory*. E-International Relations.

Minear, L. and Smith, H. (eds) (2007) *Humanitarian Diplomacy Practitioners and Their Craft*. United Nations University Press.

MSF (2019) *who we are.*

NYONGESA, A. M. (2014) *DIPLOMACY OF HUMANITARIAN AGENCIES DURING THE DADAAB REFUGEE CRISIS OF 2011 AGGREY*. UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI.

Onuf, N. (1998) 'Constructivism: A User' s Manual', in Kubálková, V., Onuf, N., and Greenwood, Kowert, P. (eds) *International Relations in a Constructed World*.

Onuf, N. (2012) 'Part I Constructivism', in *Making Sense, Making Worlds: Constructivism in Social Thoery and International Relations*.

Palan, R. (2000) 'A World of Their Making: An Evaluation of the Constructivist Critique in International Relations', *Review of International Studies*, 26(4), pp. 575–598.

Python, M. (2011) 'Between "isses" and "oughts": IR constructivism, Critical Theory, and the challenge of political philosophy. 1', pp. 1–38.

Regina, D. F. (2010) Soft Power, Constructivism and the Rwandan Genocide. University of Regina.

Régnier, P. (2011) 'The emerging concept of humanitarian diplomacy: identification of a community of practice and prospects for international recognition', *International Review of the Red Cross*, 93(884).

Reus-smit, C. et al. (no date) 'o r l d o l i t CAMBRIDGE i c s'.

Riordan, S. (2004) 'Dialogue-based public diplomacy: A new foreign policy paradigm?', *The New Public Diplomacy*, (95), pp. 1–15. doi: 10.1177/0009445514549274.

Roberts, W. R. (2007) 'What Is Public Diplomacy? Past Practices, Present Conduct, Possible Future', *Mediterranean Quarterly*, 18(4), pp. 36–52. doi: 10.1215/10474552-2007-025.

Roeder, L. W. and Simard, A. (2013) *Diplomacy and negotiation for humanitarian NGOs*, *Diplomacy and Negotiation for Humanitarian NGOs*. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-7113-4.

Rose, J. *et al.* (2013) 'The challenge of humanitarian aid: An overview', *Environmental Hazards*, 12(1), pp. 74–92. doi: 10.1080/17477891.2012.742368.

Ryfman, P. (2010) 'L'action humanitaire non gouvernementale: une diplomatie alternative?', *Source: Politique étrangère*, 75(3), pp. 565–578. doi: 10.3917/pe.103.0565.

Series, A. B. (2017) 'Negotiating Humanitarian Access: Guidance for Humanitarian Negotiators', (July).

Sharp, P. (2009) 'Diplomatic Theory of International Relations', *Cambridge Studies in International Relations*, 53(9), pp. 1689–1699. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.

Sinclair, A. (2010) 'The theoretical foundations of constructivism and its treatment of law', in *International Relations Theory and International Law*, pp. 7–36.

Slaughter, A.-M. (2011) 'International Relations, Principal Theories', *Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, p. 7. doi: 10.5305/amerjintelaw.107.2.0510.

Somalia Civil War (2018). Available at: https://www.globalsecurity.org/military/world/war/somalia.htm (Accessed: 11 December 2019).

Syria STRATEGIC PROGRAMME DOCUMENT June 2013 – March 2014. (2014) Danish Refugee Council.

Szondi, G. (2013) 'Public Diplomacy', *Encyclopedia of Public Relations*. SAGE Publications, Inc. Available at: http://www.amazon.com/Encyclopedia-Public-Relations-Robert-Heath/dp/0761927336/ref=sr_1_19?s=books&ie=UTF8&qid=1410016055&sr=1-

19&keywords=hotel+employee+turnover.

Tamang, R. (2009) 'Geopolitics and Shifts in Development Aid Policies: The Effects on Poverty in Nepal', *Journal of Sustainable Development*, 2(2), pp. 44–53. doi: 10.5539/jsd.v2n2p44.

Tanner, L. and Moro, L. (2016) 'Missed Out: The role of local actors in the humanitarian response in the South Sudan conflict'. doi: 10.21201/2016.606290.

Terry, F. *et al.* (2014) 'Looking back to look ahead? Reviewing key lessons from Operation Lifeline Sudan and past humanitarian operations in South Sudan', *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 6(October), pp. 1–21. doi: 10.1007/BF00490177.

'THE GAP BETWEEN PRACTICE THEEUROPEANCONSENSUSONHUM ANITARIANAID Table of Contents' (2011) *Secretary*, (October).

The, I. (no date) 'Chapter Ii Human Needs'.

TÜNEY, S. (2016) *The Effect Of Soft Power In The New Public Diplomacy: Humanitarian Aid And Turkey's Practice Worldwide*. Available at: http://whsturkey.org/articles/the-effect-of-soft-power-in-the-new-public-diplomacy-humanitarian-aid-and-turkey's-practice-worldwide.

Wendt, A. (1999) Social Theory of International Politics. doi: 10.2307/20049552.

WFP (2008) 'WFP Strategic Plan 2008-2013', Executive Board.

WFP (2012) Somalia: Trend Analysis of Food and Nutrition Insecurity (2007-2012).

WPF (2019) 'WFP Somalia | Brief', (June).

Zehfus, M. (2002) 'Introduction', in *Constructivism in international relations : The politics of reality*, pp. 1–32. Available at: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com.

Zimmerman, K. (2011) Al Shabaab's History with Humanitarian Assistance.